

Bangor University

MASTERS BY RESEARCH

Which regions of European waters exhibit the highest risk for harbour porpoises from marine pollutants?

Saunders, Matthew

Award date: 2023

Awarding institution: Bangor University

Link to publication

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- · Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



Bangor University

MASTERS BY RESEARCH

Which regions of European waters exhibit the highest risk for harbour porpoises from marine pollutants?

Saunders, Matthew

Award date: 2023

Link to publication

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Thesis for degree of MSc by Research Ocean Sciences

Matthew A Saunders

Department: School of Ocean Sciences

Institution: Bangor University





Supervisor: Dr James Waggitt, Bangor University

Co-supervisor: Dr Peter Evans, Sea Watch Foundation

Key words: Pollutants, organochlorines, metals, Europe, conservation, harbour porpoise

I hereby declare that this thesis is the results of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. All other sources are acknowledged by bibliographic references.

This work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree unless, as agreed by the University, for approved dual awards.

Signed: 20/01/2023

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge and thank the following people and parties for their assistance with, and contribution to, the datasets. This has been a truly international effort, and, without their contributions, the porpoise risk maps would not have been possible:

- · Dr Jon Barber, CEFAS
- · PELAGIS Observatory, University of La Rochelle
- · Dr Krishna Das, University of Liège
- · Dr Martine van den Heuvel-Greve, Waginengen University and Research
- · Professor Ursula Siebert, University of Veterinary Medicine Hannover
- · International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES)
- · OSPAR Commission

My partner, family and housemates also deserve an enormous thank you. When times were tough and R wasn't working, they never failed to make me smile.

This project has required a huge amount of teamwork from several parties to enable me to have the skills, data, and mindset needed to maximise my work. You have all played a wonderful part in the conversation of European harbour porpoise.

Abstract

In European shelf seas, harbour porpoises are considered particularly vulnerable, with negative impacts from high levels of pollutants, which can harm many aquatic organisms. Higher trophic species, such as porpoises, are particularly at risk due to bioaccumulation of pollutants. Negative effects on reproduction and resistance to disease have been demonstrated for porpoises in the region. Identifying locations where high densities of porpoise and concentrations of pollutants co-occur would identify where mitigation is most needed. This study attempts to address this gap in our knowledge by producing maps of key pollutants and of porpoise abundance at a regional scale.

This study sets out to identify where in European waters harbour porpoises are at higher risk from Cadmium, Lead, Mercury, PAHs and PCBs – by producing maps of pollutants to compare with porpoise abundance, identifying overlap. Relationships between recorded concentrations of pollutants and relevant environmental variables were established and used to predict spatial variations in concentrations of sedimentary pollutants across European waters. These were then compared with the lethal dosages (LD₅₀) for mammals, and pollutant concentrations in sediment above the LD₅₀ were plotted to show the regions of concern.

This study found that large areas of the North Sea pose a risk to harbour porpoises with sediment pollutant levels above the LD_{50} values for marine mammals around the Orkney and Shetland Isles (Cadmium), along the mainland European coastline (Mercury) and even across the entire North Sea region (Lead). No predicted PAH and PCB concentrations were above the LD_{50} values. When these predictions were overlapped with porpoise abundance, the southern North Sea was predicted to be a region of risk for harbour porpoise populations.

Further work is required to eliminate erroneous results and to improve the accuracy of the maps, and to incorporate data from the water column and within biota. However, this study provides a solid starting point in assessing risk from pollutants on a greater spatial scale than is possible by point sampling (which is logistically and financially impossible at the same scale).

Abstract Word Count: 332

Table of Contents

| Section | Sub-Section | Page Number |
|------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------|
| Title Page | | 1 |
| Acknowledgements | | 2 |
| Abstract | | 3 |
| Table of Contents | | 4 |
| Introduction | | 5 |
| Methods | | 9 |
| | Study Area | 9 |
| | General Modelling Approach | 9 |
| | Pollutant Data | 9 |
| | Environmental Data | 11 |
| | Data Processing | 11 |
| | Modelling Approach | 12 |
| | Probabilistic Risk Assessment | 13 |
| Results | | 14 |
| | Cadmium | 14 |
| | Lead | 18 |
| | Mercury | 20 |
| | PAHs | 25 |
| | PCBs | 38 |
| | Model Performance | 31 |
| Discussion | | 32 |
| | Contaminant Levels | 32 |
| | Environmental Drivers | 34 |
| | Potential Contaminant Hotspots | 34 |
| | Model Performance | 36 |
| Conclusions and Future | | 37 |
| Recommendations | | |
| References | | 37 |

Introduction

The twenty-first century has seen the marine environment facing a wide variety of anthropogenic pressures, greater than in any previous century (Halpern et al., 2008, 2015). These are most evident in shelf seas and within the coastal zone where human activities tend to be concentrated (Ramesh et al., 2015).

Cetaceans form an important component of marine ecosystems across the planet. As top predators, they have a strong top-down influence on food chains (Bengston and Laws, 1985; Williams et al., 2004; Baum and Worm, 2009) and in some circumstances function as ecosystem engineers by influencing numbers of keystone species (Filatova et al., 2019) and through "trophic competition" (Barbraud and Cotté, 2008; Friedlaender et al., 2008). They bring carbon to the seabed and nutrients to the surface – aiding the fight against climate change – through "whale pumps" (Roman and McCarthy, 2010; Roman et al., 2014) and can even alter the chemistry of an ecosystem (Ainley et al., 2010). They are also important "ecosystem sentinels" (Avila et al., 2018; IJsseldijk, et al., 2021). Aside from their ecological roles, these animals have an economical and cultural importance, supporting rapidly increasing wildlife-watching industries (O'Connor et al., 2009; Highman et al., 2014; Hoyt and Parsons, 2014) and invoking a strong sense of connection to the natural world for humans (DeMares, 2015; Yerbury and Boyd, 2018; Yerbury and Weiler, 2020). By being a vital component of ecosystems and human society, it is important that we work towards protecting them from the multiple threats they face.

Of the 90 species of cetaceans currently recognised in the world, over one-third are considered to be somewhere between near-threatened and critically endangered on the IUCN Red List (IUCN – SSC Cetacean Specialist Group, 2022). Threats are numerous: whaling, by-catch in commercial fishing gear, prey depletion by commercial fishing, chemical pollution, collisions with vessels, underwater noise disturbance, habitat alterations associated with offshore construction, and climate change (Evans and Anderwald, 2016; Avila et al., 2018; Evans, 2020).

Pollutants are a well-known human threat, which has been linked to events impacting biodiversity (McCrink-Goode, 2014). Top predators, in particular, are vulnerable, and one such example is mammal-eating orcas (Jepson et al., 2016; Schnitzler et al., 2019). As a result of concerns for aquatic life under increased pressure from anthropogenic pollutants, the EU Marine Strategy Framework Directive (2008) listed pollution as a major descriptor for the assessment of Good Environmental Status. Following a review of the literature, five notable aquatic pollutants were identified by this study as of ecotoxicological concern: Cadmium, Lead, Mercury, PAH (Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons), and PCBs (Polychlorinated Biphenyls) due to their chronic negative impacts (OSPAR, 2010). In 2002, at the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants (Stockholm Convention on POPs), PCBs were identified as one pollutant that member states must eliminate from future production lines by 2025 (Fiedler et al., 2019). As a result, regulations were put in place to remove these chemicals (OSPAR, 2010; European Union, 2019).

Unfortunately, organochlorine pollutants persist within the environment long after regulations have been implemented (Voldner and Li. 1995, Jepson and Law. 2016, Williams et al. 2019). Heavy metals – not regulated by the Stockholm Convention – have also been present in the European marine environment for a considerable period of time (Scherer et al., 2003; Radakovitch et al., 2008; García-Tarrasón et al., 2013) as well as further afield (Bloom, 1977; Naser, 2013). Their persistence means that they remain problematic despite legislative efforts and identifying scenarios where chemical pollutants could have population-level impacts that help focus conservation efforts and resources.

| Pollutant | Effect on mammalian health | Citation |
|-----------|------------------------------|---|
| Cadmium | Carcinogenic | Das et al., 2004; Papers cited by Pan et al., 2010; |
| | Endocrine-disruptive | Zhu et al., 2020 |
| | Reduce reproductive ability | |
| | Reduce immune response | |
| Lead | Behavioural changes | Munksgaard et al., 2010; Assi et al., 2016 |
| | Reduced reproductive ability | |
| Mercury | Neurotoxic | Das et al., 2004; Schuehammer et al., 2015; Aeseth |
| | Fatigue | et al., 2018 |
| | Reduced immune response | |
| PAHs | Carcinogenic | Gu et al., 2017; Parajuli et al., 2017 |
| | Damaged internal microbiome | |
| PCBs | Reduced reproductive ability | Jansen et al., 1993; Tanabe et al., 1994; Jepson et |
| | Reduce immune response | al., 1999; Hall et al., 2006; Pierce et al., 2008; |
| | | Murphy et al., 2015; Fossi et al., 2018; Fair et al., |
| | | 2020; Williams et al., 2020a |

Table 1: Toxic effects on mammalian health of Cadmium, Lead, Mercury, PAHs, and PCBs.

Several physiological and behavioural impacts from pollutants have been reported in marine mammals (Law, 1996; O'Shea, 1999; Reijnders et al., 1999; Hall, 2001; Das et al., 2003, 2004; Evans, 2014; Fossi and Panti, 2018). PCBs have been linked to reproductive failure and immunosuppression in harbour porpoises (Jepson et al. 1999, Jepson et al. 2005, Hall et al. 2006, Murphy et al. 2015). Furthermore, Cadmium, Mercury and PCBs have been shown to "supress lymphocyte proliferation" in marine and quasi-marine mammals at low concentrations; as low as "0.001 ppm" for PCBs, "0.002 ppm" for Mercury, and "0.1 ppm" for Cadmium (Desforges et al., 2016). This is in addition to other biochemical interactions as a result of pollutant exposure (Table 1).

Pollutants of anthropogenic origin are of particular concern for marine mammals, not only due to bioaccumulation (Pierce et al., 2008), but also to a lack of ability of individuals to remove pollutants from their bodies (Tanabe et al., 1994). Females can offload their POP burdens to their calf via the placenta and in their milk (Williams et al., 2020a), resulting in the first-born calf in particular being subjected to potentially toxic levels of contaminants even before they have had a chance to reproduce (Murphy et al., 2015). In addition to these effects on juvenile porpoise, Williams et al. (2021) also found exposure to PCBs to be associated with reduced testes weight in harbour porpoises which they considered will significantly impact the recruitment rate of a population.

Whilst impacts on individuals may be cryptic – due to being predominantly internal (Table 1), they can have population-level impacts. For example, a well-known pod of orcas ranging around the west coasts of Britain and Ireland has steadily declined in numbers over the last 30 years (Beck et al., 2014; Jourdain et al., 2019; Schnitzler et al., 2019). Although a direct link cannot be proven, PCB levels in UK orcas have been detected at very high concentrations (Σ PCB concentration > 40 mg/kg lw; Jepson et al., 2016). Desforges et al. (2018) predicts that on a global scale, general declines in orca populations will be seen worldwide as a result of PCB burdens. The same trend is seen elsewhere in humpback dolphins (Guo et al., 2021) and finless porpoise (Xie et al., 2021).

It is therefore important that we understand the extent of the threat posed by these chemicals as well as the geographical areas which pose greatest risk to particular cetacean populations so that appropriate mitigation measures can be taken. This can be done by combining "area-based conservation" and "pressure-based conservation" approaches to identify regions in need of further protection, as suggested by Evans (2018). By knowing where there is an increased risk for cetaceans

from pollutants, appropriate conservation measures can be implemented. An example of this approach would be to reduce or avoid (where possible) other pressures such as fishing in regions where cetaceans are likely to be most heavily impacted by pollutants. It will, therefore, be useful to determine where cetaceans might be impacted the most by specific pollutants. To do this, we need maps of both cetacean distribution and pollutant concentrations.

Many studies have generated Species Distribution Maps for a wide range of taxa across the animal kingdom. In recent years, these have extended to cetaceans, and examples from Europe include Gómez de Segura et al. (2008) showing the distribution of small cetaceans in the Spanish Mediterranean, Breen et al. (2017) modelling cetacean abundance around Ireland, and Waggitt et al. (2020) modelling the abundance of a variety of cetaceans in a major part of the OSPAR region. By contrast, there is a significant lack of maps which demonstrate spatial variation in the concentrations of pollutants that are necessary to implement effective conservation measures.

Since pollutant concentrations may correlate with specific environmental variables, we can predictively map these in the same way that we predictively map cetacean abundance. For example, areas with high levels of pollutants may be associated with particular seabed or water mass properties, including depth, sediment, water-column mixing of temperature and salinity. Determining the statistical relationships between known pollutant concentrations and environmental variables is especially important due to the patchiness of sampling of pollutant concentrations. Combining species distribution maps with those of pollutant levels can help conservation efforts in those regions where multiple pressures exist. Entanglement in fishing gear and ingestion of marine debris are considered major threats to populations for which risk maps are useful to identify hot spots (Breen et al., 2017, Currie et al., 2017; Gregorietti et al., 2021). However, similar approaches have yet to be performed for chemical pollutants.

The North Sea represents one of the most industrialised regions in the world, with major settlements around its coastlines (van Mil and Rutte, 2021). The southern sector is influenced by freshwater input from substantial river systems (Howarth, 2001) whereas the northern sector is influenced by prominent oceanic currents transporting water-masses from the wider Atlantic (Winther and Johannessen, 2006). This combination of urbanisation and multiple water-masses originating from different locations makes the North Sea vulnerable to chemical pollution.

Thirty cetacean species have been recorded in European waters (Evans, 2020), although only a few of them are regular within the North Sea (Reid et al., 2003; Hammond et al., 2013; Waggitt et al., 2020). The commonest and most widespread species is the harbour porpoise (Hammond et al., 2002, 2013, 2021; Waggitt et al., 2020; see also Fig. 1). Following overall declines in the second half of the last century, porpoises in the North Sea since the 1990s showed a southward range shift, becoming rarer in the northern North Sea and more abundant in the German Bight and Southern Bight (Hammond et al., 2013; Gilles et al., 2016; Bouveroux et al., 2020; Waggitt et al., 2020), where they often occur in proximity to areas of high urbanisation and riverine input. Moreover, unlike those in some other North Atlantic regions (e.g., Greenland), harbour porpoise in the North Sea exhibit relatively small ranges (Nielsen et al., 2018), meaning that animals may be chronically exposed to pollutants. Therefore, harbour porpoises in the North Sea could be considered vulnerable to chemical pollutants. Indeed, there have been declines of harbour porpoise in the Skagerrak and the German Bight (Hansen and Høgslund, 2021; Nachtsheim et al., 2021) coupled with numerous strandings of the species (Siebert et al., 2006; Peltier et al., 2013; Wright et al., 2013; IJsseldyk et al., 2020), highlighting the value of monitoring harbour porpoises in this region (Peschko et al., 2016). However, it is important to assess harbour porpoise numbers across the entirety of their European range in order to assess whether they are at increased risk in particular locations bearing in mind regional variations in background and biota pollutant concentrations.



Figure 1: Distribution of harbour porpoises in January and July across West European Seas (Adapted from Waggitt et al., 2020).

Several studies have also focused upon threats to harbour porpoise from chemical pollution in and around the North Sea. Populations of porpoises and some other cetacean species in European waters are exposed to elevated levels of contaminants leading to health concerns (Aguilar et al., 2002; Das et al., 2004; Lahaye et al., 2007; Law et al., 2010; Law et al., 2012; Williams et al., 2020b).

Jepson et al. (2016) presented a map of PCB levels in porpoises around the coasts of the British Isles, indicating hotspots. However, risk assessments on a wider scale for the North Sea have yet to be conducted. Schwake et al. (2002) published a probabilistic risk-assessment to identify overlap between pollutant burdens and reproductive impacts in bottlenose dolphins off the east coast of United States, providing insights into which populations are likely to exhibit impaired reproductive function. A probabilistic risk-assessment approach has yet to be applied to the North Sea, although recommended by Jepson et al. (2009). The current study attempts to risk assess regions of the North Sea where porpoise population declines could occur based on pollutant concentrations using a probabilistic risk-assessment approach.

To achieve these aims, this project: (1) produces maps of predicted Cadmium [Cd], Lead [Pb], Mercury [Hg], Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons [PAHs], and Polychlorinated Biphenyls [PCBs] concentrations, (2) overlays maps of major contaminants with existing maps of harbour porpoise, and (3) identifies areas where high densities of harbour porpoise coincide with high concentrations of contaminants. The resulting risk-assessment maps will be useful for the Regional Agreement on the Conservation of Small Cetaceans of the Baltic, North-East Atlantic, Irish and North Seas (ASCOBANS) so that they can

focus on targeted monitoring of pollutant levels, in addition to mitigating more easily controllable threats, such as noise disturbance and fisheries interactions (Cervin et al., 2020).

Methods

Study Area

Analyses focus on the North Sea between approximately -3.71° and 9.71° longitude and -51.00° and 60.28° latitude. This region encompasses several contrasting habitats within the North Sea, allowing broad-scale comparisons of contaminants in different regions; the deep (>100 m) Norwegian Trench in the north-west, the shallow (<50 m) and freshwater influenced waters of the German and Southern Bight in the south, and the moderately deep and Atlantic Ocean influenced waters around Shetland and Orkney in the north. By including areas with different habitat characteristics, this study region provides the comparisons of contaminant levels amongst contrasting habitats needed to develop predictive models.

General Modelling Approach

To identify areas where harbour porpoise may be exposed to damaging concentrations of contaminants, analyses were divided into several discrete components: (1) point contaminant measurements from previous or ongoing monitoring and research programmes were sourced, quantifying observed variations in contaminants across the study region, (2) continuous environmental measurements from oceanographic models and remote-sensing were collated, allowing environmental conditions at the location of point contaminant measurements to be ascertained, (3) statistical relationships between point contaminant measurements and continuous environmental conditions were estimated, and these statistical relationships used to predict levels of contamination across the study region, and (4) these predictions of contaminations were combined with existing predictions of porpoise densities across the study region, leading to risk assessments for harbour porpoise. The following sections describe these four discrete components in further detail.

Pollutant Data

Measurements of Cadmium, Lead, Mercury, PAHs and PCBs were primarily sourced from the ICES database (<u>https://www.ices.dk/data/data-portals/Pages/DOME.aspx</u>). To maximise sample sizes, these measurements were complemented by those sourced from individual scientists and/or organisations performing research into contaminants but who have not yet contributed data to the ICES database.

Nevertheless, these data were screened to ensure that measurements were comparable and relevant to study aims. Whilst measurements of contaminants were obtained from several media (sediment, water-column, animal tissue) within the ICES database, only measurements from the sediment were considered for analyses. This decision was made because: (1) Focusing on sediments ensured that measurements were broadly comparable. (2) Porpoises' general selection of prey near the seabed in the North Sea (Santos and Pierce, 2003) suggests that contaminants in sediment are more likely to be passed up to porpoises, and (3) there was an insufficient number of data points available from water samples and in tissue for accurate modelling to take place over the entire North Sea region. Amongst sediment samples, measurements of contaminants were collected using a variety of analytical techniques, which could produce different values. Therefore, only samples collected using SED2000 were used to further ensure compatibility, before units were standardized by converting all measurements into $\mu g/g$. These approaches provided measurements of contaminants across the North Sea that were considered comparable and relevant for the study aims. Extreme values in deeper

waters were removed as they were found in areas where harbour porpoises do not frequent as these values would likely influence the end results to an extent where they exaggerated relationships between contaminants and environmental variables.

When the data collated from the ICES datasets between 1977 and 2021 were selected for the SED2000 analytical technique, dataset sizes were as follows: Cadmium = 5563; Lead = 6526; Mercury = 5387; PAHs = 93585; PCBs = 73456.

Data were collated from around Northern Europe as shown in Figure 2 below:















Figure 2: The locations of Cadmium, Lead, Mercury, PAH and PCB samples in the OSPAR region. Coordinates are projected in the UTM30 projection. Axis units of measurement is metres.

Environmental Data

Environmental descriptors were sourced from oceanographic models and remote sensing sources. Collectively, these variables describe persistently different habitats across the North Sea, facilitating the detection and quantification of differences in contaminant levels amongst habitats.

Values of seabed depth were provided at <100m resolution from the EMODnet Bathymetry archive (EMODnet Bathymetry - https://www.emodnet-bathymetry.eu/) and discriminate between shallow waters in the Southern and German Bights, deeper waters in the Norwegian Trench, and intermediate waters in the central North Sea.

Values of water temperature, water salinity and water currents were provided at a 1.5 km and monthly resolution from FOAM AMM15 oceanographic models on the Copernicus Marine Environmental Monitoring Service (Copernicus Marine Service - <u>https://www.copernicus.eu/en</u>). Only values from 2019 were used which allowed for the usage of higher-resolution output from the AMM15 model, which only provides outputs from 2019 onwards. This was not deemed an issue because relative variation in temperatures and salinities would remain similar amongst years.

Combining mean surface temperatures and salinities identify prominent water-masses in the North Sea, discriminating between warm saline Atlantic Ocean water and cooler less saline European shelf water. In isolation, salinity also identifies regions immediately adjacent to large estuaries in the southern North Sea. High variances in surface temperature and salinity amongst months identify ROFI (Regions of Freshwater Influence), linked to freshwater being considerable cooler than seawater in winter, and warmer than seawater in summer. In shelf-seas, tidal currents and water-column mixing are also prominent processes (Simpson and Sharples, 2012), with mean current speeds and the Simpson's Stratification Index (HU₃ = 8cpk E I 37TagQ (Simpson and Hunter, 1974)) collectively discriminating between areas characterised by dynamic turbulent and settled un-turbulent water columns.

Finally, values of sediment properties were sourced from predictive models developed by Wilson et al. (2018). Whilst % of different sediment types are provided, initial inspection showed that % mud helped discriminate amongst relevant habitats, being considerably higher in the Norwegian Trench and central North Sea.

A summary of environmental variables used in analyses is provided in Table 2.

Data Processing

Whilst contaminant concentrations undoubtedly differ seasonally and interannually (Wright and Mason, 1999; Evanset et al., 2016), inspection of the collation of contaminant measurements showed spatiotemporal heterogeneity across months and years, with very few sites being sampled at regular monthly and annual intervals. This heterogeneity prevented reliable analyses into spatiotemporal variation in contaminants across the North Sea, so analyses focused on estimating spatial variation instead.

Although, omitting information on spatiotemporal changes in contaminant concentrations and porpoise densities brings limitations to risk assessment, it seems likely that spatial variation in contaminant concentrations and porpoise densities exceeds temporal variation, with the latter occupying broadly similar habitats in the North Sea across the annual cycle (Gilles et al 2016, Waggitt et al., 2020), and the former likely concentrated around persistent sources of contaminants (i.e. estuaries, ocean currents).

All environmental variables were resampled at 2.5 km resolution. Whilst this is at a lower resolution than originally provided, 2.5 km resolution represented the maximum resolution / number of grid cells where efficient processing and analysis was possible on computers available at the time. To couple the contaminant concentrations with the environmental variables, where multiple concentrations had been sampled at a single location over time, the mean pollutant concentration across all samples and summaries of temperature and salinities within each grid cell was calculated, providing additional information on both in the study area.

| Variable | Short Name | Units | Source |
|-----------------------------|------------|----------------|----------------------------------|
| Annual Temperature Mean | AnTPM | °C | Copernicus Marine Service |
| Annual Temperature Variance | AnTPV | °C | Copernicus Marine Service |
| Annual Salinity Mean | AnSAL | Ppt | Copernicus Marine Service |
| Annual Salinity Variance | AnSAV | Ppt | Copernicus Marine Service |
| Simpson Hunter | HU₃ | Log10 (m-2 s3) | Copernicus Marine Service |
| Current Speed | CUR | m/s | Copernicus Marine Service |
| Distance to Land | LND | Metres | Indicated by coordinates of data |
| Depth | BAT | Metres | EMODnet |
| Sediment | MUD | % Mud | Wilson et al., 2018 |

Table 2: Environmental variables used in order to predict pollutant concentrations.

Modelling Approaches

Model Setup: Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) were selected over commonly used Generalised Additive Models (GAM) owing to several properties of the dataset and inspection of predictions from exploratory GAMs. Specifically, GAMs may be susceptible to overfitting in data characterised by heterogeneous coverage. Here, for example, inspection of relationships from preliminary GAMs sometimes demonstrated illogical and complicated relationships between response and explanatory variables. In addition, there was evidence of oversensitivity to areas of intense sampling and/or extreme values. These overfitted and exaggerated relationships culminated in predictions that were considerably higher than the average values of contaminants in a very small number of cells, often at extremities of environmental conditions, in particular at increased depths. Subsequently, constraining relationships between response and explanatory variables to linear and quadratic terms in the GLM approach provided more logical relationships and reduced the likelihood of overfitting and oversensitivity to heterogeneous coverage. Salinity maps showed areas of estuarine influence compared to fully marine areas whilst sediment maps showed areas of fine sediment compared to areas of coarse sediment. Therefore, it is expected that these can be treated with a linear approach. However, temperature variance and mixing are treated as quadratics as different habitats are identified by moderate or stable salinities and mixed, frontal or stratified mixing. Models used Tweedie distributions due to high variance (high frequency of small values and low frequency of high values) and low means (leading to overdispersion). Explanatory variables were the environmental conditions, whilst the response variables were the corresponding pollutant concentrations.

Model Selection: The process of choosing environmental variables first involved tests for collinearity which showed no evidence of extreme values between the variables. The best-performing combination of environmental variables were chosen through multi modal inferences based on the approaches of Burnham and Anderson (1998) as the actual approaches can be complex, from the MuMIn package and dredge function (Bartón, 2022). This involved constructed models for all combinations of explanatory variables and extracting their AIC values. The AIC values were compared

and the model with the lowest AIC value was deemed as optimal. Predictions across the North Sea were then made using the optimal model. Uncertainty in predictions, represented by standard error in model parameters and Deviance Explained, was also predicted.

Model Predictions: The final models were combined with continuous measurements to predict spatial variations in contaminants across the study region. To reduce anomalously high predictions in extreme habitats, i.e., within fjords and estuaries, environmental variables were constrained to 5% and 95% percentiles. Based on the environmental variables selected for the model, it is predicted that regions closer to industrialised or densely populated coastal settlements will be subjected to higher pollutant concentrations.

Spatial autocorrelation in residuals was inspected using variograms. This was important as autocorrelation violates the assumption of independence, shrinks confidence intervals, and produces misleading estimates of uncertainty in model predictions.

Software: R Studio was used to run the models and plot results using the following packages: raster (Hijmans, 2022), mgcv (Wood, 2011), plyr (Hadley Wickham, 2011), rgdal (Bivand et al., 2022), maptools (Biavnd and Lewin-Koh, 2022), automap (Hiesmestra et al., 2008), MuMIn (Bartoń, 2022), geoR (Ribeiro Jr et al., 2022), gstat (Pebesma, 2004) and sp (Pebesma and Bivand, 2005).

Probabilistic Risk Assessment

A probabilistic risk assessment was used to identify locations where damaging contaminant levels coincided with high densities of harbour porpoise.

Schwake et al. (2002) proposed the following equation when assessing the risk of PCBs affecting bottlenose dolphins off the US coast where x = a specific concentration, Rx = risk at a specific concentration, P(X) = probability of having tissue concentration X, and P(E|X) = probability of the adverse effect at concentration X (Schwake et al., 2002):

Rx = P(X)P(E|X)

The same protocol was applied to the current study, predicting the risk of harbour porpoises being negatively affected by marine pollutants.

Rx = risk that the concentration of the pollutant in the sediment would have a lethal effect on porpoises.

P(X) = probability of a particular pollutant concentration at that location. As this study is aiming to determine the risk value of the pollutant concentration predicted at given coordinates, P(X) is 1 as it has been predicted that there will be that particular pollutant value at those coordinates.

P(E|X) = risk of the concentration of the pollutant having a lethal effect on harbour porpoises. This was calculated as the occurrence of a value equal to or greater than the LD50 – P(LD50) – (lethal dosage for 50% of the population [Merriam-Webster.com]).

How P(E|X) was calculated:

- P(E|X) was calculated by determining if the concentration was above or below the published level resulting in the onset of adverse effects and above or below the published level resulting in the mortality of individuals, as in table 3.
- When $[Pollutant] \ge LD50$, P(E|X) = 1; and when [Pollutant] < onset level, P(E|X) = 0.

| Pollutant | LD₅₀ Value (µg/g) | Reference |
|-----------|-------------------|---------------------|
| Cadmium | 50 | Järup et al., 2000 |
| Lead | n/a | n/a |
| Mercury | 30 | Shore et al., 2011 |
| РАН | 2.1 | Sun et al., 2021 |
| РСВ | 41 | Jepson et al., 2016 |

Table 3: Published LD₅₀ values for Cadmium, Lead, Mercury, PAHs, and PCBs for mammals.

Rx was calculated for all predicted pollutant concentrations by the GLMs, and then separate maps were plotted across the OSPAR region for both P(O) and P(LD50). As a result, this study was able to show locations in the OSPAR region where the pollutant concentrations were likely to cause both an onset of adverse effects and mortality.

Finally, this was compared to porpoise densities to determine where both the porpoise density was above the 25^{th} , 50^{th} and 75^{th} percentile of the maximum density, and the pollutant concentration was that of the LD₅₀ value. Densities of porpoise were sourced from updated outputs from Waggitt et al. (2020), focusing on the North Sea at 2.5 km resolution.

It is important to note that LD_{50} values are relate to contaminant burdens within the body of the mammal. As the maps in this study demonstrate pollutant levels in sediments, due to low number of data points within porpoise themselves, where biomagnification occurs, areas below the LD_{50} in the following maps may be concealing threats to porpoise. For future studies this can be amended with modelling porpoise concentrations, however, this study provides a useful starting point to doing this.

For Lead, it seems that there are no reported LD_{50} values. Flora et al. (2012) reports a chronic poisoning value of "40-60 micrograms per decilitre", however, this is not an LD_{50} value. It should be noted that it is unlikely that porpoises will display symptoms of lead poisoning unless they ingest lumps of lead like a did harbour seal as reported by Zabka et al. (2006). For lead only maps with predicted concentrations were produced.

<u>Results</u>

<u>Cadmium</u>

The model producing the lowest AIC value included which included AnTPV and HU3 (modelled as quadratics) and so was used predict Cadmium concentrations in the North Sea. The largest predicted value of Cadmium concentrations was 4760 μ g/g, and the smallest predicted (non-zero) value was $1.4 \times 10^{-11} \mu$ g/g. On average, the model, which used the AnTPV and HU3 environmental variables predicted a value of 17.6 μ g/g. This model explained 18.00% of the deviance seen in the raw data (Table 4). Figure 7 demonstrates no evidence of autocorrelation with variance in values decreasing with distance apart.

Cadmium concentrations were predicted to be highest along the UK's eastern coast, from the Humber estuary to the islands of Orkney and Shetland. Cadmium can also be found at high concentrations north of the Dogger Bank and along the southern edge of the Norwegian Trench through to the Skagerrak. They also occur where the English Channel meets the Southern Bight and along the Norwegian coast.

Cadmium concentrations are above the LD_{50} value predominantly along the UK's east coast, for example in the Orkney Islands, along the Scottish coast between Edinburgh and Aberdeen, and along

the Yorkshire coast south to Flamborough Head. They can also be found in concentrations above the LD_{50} in the Skagerrak.

Areas with a harbour porpoise density above the 25^{th} percentile of the maximum porpoise density in the North Sea and [Cd] above the LD₅₀ are solely from the Flamborough Head region out to the south of the Dogger Bank. There are no areas with a harbour porpoise density above the 50^{th} percentile of the maximum porpoise density in the North Sea and [Cd] above the LD₅₀ value (figure 6).

Table 4: Model to examine how environmental variables affect Cadmium concentrations in European sediments. Only the models with the 5 lowest AIC values are included in the table.

| Model | df | AIC | Delta | Weight |
|---|----|-------|-------|--------|
| AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 7 | 546.6 | 0.00 | 0.523 |
| MUD, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 8 | 548.4 | 1.85 | 0.207 |
| AnSAL, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 8 | 548.6 | 2.00 | 0.193 |
| AnSAL, MUD, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 9 | 550.4 | 3.83 | 0.077 |
| AnTPV ² | 5 | 561.3 | 14.73 | 0.000 |



Figure 3: Cadmium concentrations (μ g/g) in sediment across the North Sea region, using a UTM30N projection. Axis units of measurement is metres.



Figure 4: Risk assessment for Cadmium exposure for harbour porpoises across the North Sea region. Regions in red have [Cd] in the sediment above the LD_{50} for Cadmium levels from table 3. Coordinates were projected using the UTM30N projection. Axis units of measurement is metres.



Figure 5: Regions (red) which demonstrate Cadmium concentrations in the sediment above the LD_{50} value for Cadmium and have harbour porpoise densities above the lowest 25th percentile in Waggitt et al. (2020). Axis units of measurement is metres.



Figure 6: Regions (red) which demonstrate Cadmium concentrations in the sediment above the LD_{50} value for Cadmium and have harbour porpoise densities above the 50th percentile in Waggitt et al. (2020). Axis units of measurement is metres.



Figure 7: Variogram for the Cadmium model. Sill = 15,000; Nugget = 5,200; Range = 40,000.

Lead

The largest predicted value was $2.1 \times 10^{11} \,\mu\text{g/g}$ and the smallest predicted (non-zero) value was $4.0 \times 10^{6} \,\mu\text{g/g}$. On average, the model, which includes the AnSAL, MUD, AnTPV, and HU3 environmental variables, predicted a value of $1.6 \times 10^{9} \,\mu\text{g/g}$. This model explains 5.47% of the deviance explained in the raw data (Table 5). Figure 9 demonstrates no evidence of autocorrelation.

Lead concentrations are predicted to be found at their highest of the west coast of Denmark, particularly in proximity to the Wadden Sea National Park, the north coast of Denmark, and within fjords along the Norwegian coastline such as those near Stavanger and Kristiansand.

Table 5: Model to examine how environmental variables affect Lead concentrations in European sediments. Only the models with the 5 lowest AIC values are included in the table. AnTPV and HU3 are modelled as quadratics. The model which included AnSAL, MUD, AnTPV and HU3 produced the lowest AIC value and so was used to predict Lead concentrations in the North Sea.

| Model | df | AIC | Delta | Weight |
|---|----|--------|-------|--------|
| AnSAL, MUD, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 9 | 3128.4 | 0.00 | 0.992 |
| AnSAL, MUD, HU3 ² | 7 | 3138.9 | 10.48 | 0.005 |
| MUD, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 8 | 3140.9 | 12.51 | 0.002 |
| AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 7 | 3144.3 | 15.84 | 0.000 |
| AnSAL, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 8 | 3145.7 | 17.27 | 0.000 |



Figure 8: Lead concentrations (μ g/g) in sediment across the North Sea region, using a UTM30N projection. Axis units of measurement is metres.



Figure 9: Variogram for Lead model. Sill = 3.2×10^{20} ; nugget = 1.7×10^{20} ; range = 1×10^{5} .

Mercury

The largest predicted value was $1.0 \times 10^7 \,\mu$ g/g and the smallest predicted (non-zero) value was $2.3 \times 10^7 \,\mu$ g/g. On average, the model, which used the AnSAL and AnTPV environmental variables, predicted a value of $3.1 \times 10^4 \,\mu$ g/g. This model explained 6.39% of the variance found in the raw data (Table 6). Figure 15 demonstrates no evidence of autocorrelation.

The highest concentrations of sedimentary Mercury can be found in the German Bight of the North Sea. Other high concentrations of Mercury occur across the mainland European coast, with progressively lower concentrations being found further out into the North Sea. Other high concentrations can be found in the Thames and Humber estuaries. Lowest concentrations are in the northernmost regions of the North Sea. Mercury concentrations are above the LD₅₀ value along the European coastline as well as in the Thames and Humber estuaries, the Wash and the Firth of Forth, and along the Suffolk coast.

Areas with a harbour porpoise density above the 25th percentile of the maximum porpoise density in the North Sea and [Hg] above the LD₅₀ are along the European mainland coast from Rotterdam to Denmark's northern coastline. Other regions include the southern banks of the Thames estuary, parts of the Suffolk coast, the Wash and the Humber Estuary. A similar pattern is observed for those areas with a harbour porpoise density above the 50th percentile, except that the north coast of Denmark and the Humber Estuary are no longer identified as of concern. Areas where the harbour porpoise density is above the 75th percentile and [Hg] are above the LD₅₀ can be found off the European coast between Rotterdam (The Netherlands) and Bremerhaven (Germany). Off the UK, highlighted areas include where the Rivers Welland and Great Ouse meet the Wash and where the River Medway meets the Thames Estuary.

Table 6: Model to examine how environmental variables affect Mercury concentrations in European sediments. Only the models with the 5 lowest AIC values are included in the table. AnTPV and HU3 are modelled as quadratics. The model which included AnSAL and AnTPV produced the lowest AIC value and so was used to predict Mercury concentrations in the North Sea.

| Model | df | AIC | Delta | Weight |
|---|----|--------|-------|--------|
| AnSAL, AnTPV ² | 6 | -109.6 | 0.00 | 0.580 |
| AnSAL, MUD, AnTPV ² | 7 | -107.7 | 1.91 | 0.222 |
| AnSAL, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 8 | -106.5 | 3.07 | 0.125 |
| AnSAL, MUD, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 9 | -105.0 | 4.60 | 0.058 |
| MUD, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 8 | -99.5 | 10.08 | 0.004 |



Figure 10: Mercury concentrations (μ g/g) in sediment across the North Sea region, using a UTM30N projection. Axis units of measurement is metres.



Figure 11: Risk assessment for Mercury exposure for harbour porpoises across the North Sea region. Regions in red have [Hg] in the sediment above the LD_{50} for Mercury values from table 3. Mercury concentrations were above the LD_{50} value in the Moray Firth, the Firth of Forth, the Thames estuary, between Rotterdam and the north of Denmark, and along Norway's south coast. Axis units of measurement is metres.



Figure 12: Regions (red) which demonstrate Mercury concentrations in the sediment above the LD_{50} value for Mercury and have harbour porpoise densities above the 25^{th} percentile in Waggitt et al. (2020). Axis units of measurement is metres.



Figure 13: Regions (red) which demonstrate Mercury concentrations in the sediment above the LD_{50} value for Mercury and have harbour porpoise densities above the 50^{th} percentile in Waggitt et al. (2020). Axis units of measurement is metres.



Figure 14: Regions (red) which demonstrate Mercury concentrations in the sediment above the LD_{50} value for Mercury and have harbour porpoise densities above the 75th percentile in Waggitt et al. (2020). Axis units of measurement is metres.



Figure 15: Variogram for Mercury model. Sill = $7x10^{11}$; nugget = $5.8x10^{11}$; range = $0.7x10^{5}$.

<u>PAHs</u>

The largest predicted value was $8.1 \times 10^4 \,\mu$ g/g and the smallest predicted (non-zero) value was $4.0 \times 10^{12} \,\mu$ g/g. On average, the model, using the AnSAL, MUD, AnTPV, and HU3 environmental variables, predicted a value of $3.6 \,\mu$ g/g. This model explains 20.80% of the deviance found in the raw data (Table 7). Figure 18 demonstrates some evidence of autocorrelation with lower variance with smaller distances apart.

Sedimentary PAH concentrations can be found at their highest along the Norwegian coastline, particularly around the fjords near Kristiansand, Stavanger, and Bergen. PAHs occur in relatively high concentrations on the Dogger Bank, in the Humber Estuary and the Firth of Forth. However, no regions exhibit PAH concentrations above the LD_{50} value across the North Sea.

Table 7: Model to examine how environmental variables affect PAH concentrations in European sediments. Only the models with the 5 lowest AIC values are included in the table. AnTPV and HU3 are modelled as quadratics. The model which included AnSAL, MUD, AnTPV and HU3 produced the lowest AIC value and so was used to predict PAH concentrations in the North Sea.

| Model | df | AIC | Delta | Weight |
|---|----|----------|-------|--------|
| AnSAL, MUD, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 9 | -11202.9 | 0.00 | 0.616 |
| AnSAL, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 8 | -11202.0 | 0.95 | 0.384 |
| AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 7 | -11139.4 | 63.57 | 0.000 |
| AnSAL, MUD, AnTPV ² | 7 | -11139.1 | 63.82 | 0.000 |
| MUD, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 8 | -11138.1 | 64.86 | 0.000 |



Figure 16: PAHs concentration (μ g/g) in sediment across the North Sea region, using a UTM30N projection. Axis units of measurement is metres.



Figure 17: Risk assessment for PAHs exposure for harbour porpoises across the North Sea region. Regions in red have [PAHs] in the sediment above the LD_{50} for PAH values from table 3. No sub-regions of the North Sea had PAH concentrations in the sediment above the LD_{50} value. Axis units of measurement is metres.



Figure 18: Variogram for PAH model. Sill = 1.4×10^6 ; nugget = 0; range = 1.3×10^5 .

PCBs

The highest predicted value for PCBs was 2.2x10 μ g/g and the smallest predicted (non-zero) value was 2.0x10⁻⁸ μ g/g. On average, the model using the AnSAL, MUD, AnTPV and HU3 environmental variables predicted a value of 9.8x10⁻² μ g/g. This model explains 21.3% of the deviance found in the raw data (Table 8). Figure 21 demonstrates no evidence of autocorrelation.

Sedimentary PCB concentrations are highest off the Humber Estuary. They can also be found in relatively high concentrations near estuaries which are fed from rivers which pass by or through major cities, including London, Edinburgh, Rotterdam, Bremen and Hamburg via the River Thames, rivers flowing into the Firth of Forth, the Rhine/Hollands Diep, and Rivers Weser, and Elbe, respectively. PCB concentrations are predominantly found at highest values in the southern parts of the North Sea. However, similar to PAHs, no sedimentary PCB concentrations were predicted to be above the LD₅₀ value for PCBs.

Table 8: Model to examine how environmental variables affect PCB concentrations in European sediments. Only the models with the 5 lowest AIC values are included in the table. AnTPV and HU3 are modelled as quadratics. The model which included AnSAL, MUD, AnTPV and HU3 produced the lowest AIC value and so was used to predict PCB concentrations in the North Sea.

| Model | df | AIC | Delta | Weight |
|---|----|----------|-------|--------|
| AnSAL, MUD, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 9 | -10670.0 | 0.00 | 0.672 |
| AnSAL, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 8 | -10668.6 | 1.45 | 0.326 |
| AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 7 | -10657.2 | 12.81 | 0.001 |
| MUD, AnTPV ² , HU3 ² | 8 | -10655.9 | 14.12 | 0.001 |
| AnSAL, MUD, HU3 ² | 7 | -10648.0 | 21.99 | 0.000 |



Figure 19: PCBs concentration (μ g/g) in sediment across the North Sea region, using a UTM30N projection. Axis units of measurement is metres.



Figure 20: Risk assessment for PCBs exposure for harbour porpoises across the North Sea region. Regions in red have [PCBs] in the sediment above the LD_{50} for PCB values from table 3. No sub-regions of the North Sea had PCB concentrations in the sediment above the LD_{50} value. Axis units of measurement is metres.



Figure 21: Variogram for PCB model. Sill = 1.3, nugget = 1.3, range = 0.

Model Performance

Based on Table 9 (below), model performance is varied. Overall, deviance explained is low, however, it seems that the models for Cadmium, PAHs and PCBs performed much better than the models for Lead and Mercury.

It is of concern that all models predicted lower maximum concentrations than what was sampled, however, table 9 does not take into account that extreme values were removed from dataset of sampled concentrations to avoid exaggeration of relationships between pollutant concentrations and environmental variables. Mean predicted concentration for Cadmium was the closest to the mean sampled concentration of all the pollutants selected for this study.

Table 9 suggests that Lead was the weakest model of this study with lowest percentage of deviance explained and the maximum, minimum, and mean predicted concentrations were several factors of 10 different to the sampled concentrations.

Table 9: Deviance explained by and R-squared for the model with the lowest AIC values for each pollutant. In addition, there is also a comparison of the largest, smallest and average concentrations of both pollutants sampled and included in the raw data and predicted concentrations in this study (non-zero values only).

| Pollutant | Deviance Explained (%) | Sampled Concentrations (µg/g) | | | Predicted (| Concentratio | ons (µg/g) | R-squared |
|-----------|------------------------------|-------------------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------|-----------|
| | | Maximum | Minimum | Mean | Maximum | Minimum | Mean | |
| Cadmium | 18.00 | 4.76x10 ³ | 1.40x10 ⁻¹¹ | 1.77×10^{1} | 7.72x10 | 0.04x10 ⁻² | 1.53x10 ¹ | 0.0155 |
| Lead | 5.47 | 2.60x10 ¹¹ | 4.00x10 ⁻⁶ | 1.58x10 ⁹ | 2.86x10 ⁴ | 6.33 | 7.47x10 ² | -0.265 |
| Mercury | 6.39 | 1.00x10 ⁷ | 2.28x10 ⁻⁷ | 3.14x10 ⁴ | 6.38x10 | 1.66 | 1.17x10 | 0.0889 |
| PAHs | 20.80 | 8.12x10 ⁴ | 4.00x10 ⁻¹² | 3.63x10 ¹ | 2.3x10 ⁻¹ | 5.63x10 ⁻⁴ | 1.11x10 ⁻ 2 | 0.0036 |
| PCBs | 21.30 | 2.18x10 ¹ | 2.00x10 ⁻⁸ | 9.78x10 ⁻² | 1.68x10 ⁻³ | 3.99x10 ⁻⁵ | 2.36x10 ⁻ 4 | 0.107 |

Table 10: Standard error of models (μ g/g). Also included are the 1st quartile, median and 3rd quartile of each of the models (μ g/g).

| Pollutant | Standard Error | 1 st Quartile | Median | 3 rd Quartile |
|-----------|-----------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------|
| Cadmium | 7.59 | 5.76 | 1.08x10 | 2.04x10 |
| Lead | 2.99x10 ² | 2.34x10 ² | 5.97x10 ² | 9.58x10 ² |
| Mercury | 4.94 | 4.46 | 7.34 | 1.66x10 |
| PAHs | 3.4x10 ⁻³ | 4.08x10 ⁻³ | 8.59x10 ⁻³ | 1.18x10 ⁻² |
| PCBs | 9.71x10 ⁻⁵ | 1.20x10 ⁻⁴ | 1.81x10 ⁻⁴ | 2.63-4 |

Discussion

This study set out to predict concentrations of five major contaminants (Cadmium, Lead, Mercury, PAHs and PCBs), across the North Sea, in order to assess which regions demonstrated pollutant concentrations which pose a threat to harbour porpoise.

The main findings of this study are: 1) Some contaminants need greater attention than others; 2) Several environmental variables were key across contaminants; 3) Areas of concern depend upon the contaminant; and 4) Model performance is mixed, and reliability depends on the pollutant.

Contaminant Levels

Lead is predicted by this study to be at high levels across the entire study area (figure 9) and shows particularly high levels off the Danish and Norwegian coasts, with relatively high concentrations also in areas of the eastern and northern parts of the North Sea (figure 8).

Hinrichs et al. (2002) suggest that there is anthropogenically sourced Lead from rivers flowing into the German Bight, suggesting the same trends as for Cadmium in the North Sea, with the Elbe and Weser being the main sources for high Lead concentrations in the German Bight. In addition, Rose et al. (2012) demonstrated mechanisms for Lead pollution in Scotland through erosion, which may be a cause of Lead input via the Firth of Forth and Moray Firth. These two estuaries are predicted by this study to have higher concentrations of Lead pollution in the sediments than the rest of the east coast of the United Kingdom. This indicates that large estuaries across the North Sea are the principal source

of Lead pollution, and this may be the result of soil erosion from potential natural sources rather than from more direct anthropogenic activities.

PAH concentrations were notably lower than the concentrations of the heavy metals found in this study and figure 17 suggests that the entire North Sea is below the lethal dosage for PAHs. It should be noted that when Law and Whinnett (1992) sampled PAH concentrations in the muscles of harbour porpoises, the highest concentrations were also below the LD₅₀ value for PAHs, which supports the findings of this study that PAHs do not result in lethal effects for harbour porpoise in the North Sea, although this statement must be taken loosely due to the effects of biomagnification of this persistent chemical. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons have been demonstrated to be biodegradable when exposed to microorganisms (Carmichael and Pfaender, 1996) and this may suggest that PAHs are being broken down to lower concentrations and could explain the lower predicted PAH concentrations if microorganisms are breaking down the pollutant before it enters the marine environment. It is also possible that PAHs are less ubiquitous than metals as they are predominantly associated with industrial processes, such as the disposal of petroleum-containing materials (Carmichael and Pfaender, 1996), as opposed to the more domestic uses of Lead and Mercury such as their well-known past usages in pipes and thermometers. Bases on the literature, with reduced anthropogenic usage, there will naturally be less input of PAHs into the marine environment.

PCB levels are predicted by this study to be highest along the coasts of south-east England and between northern France and northern Denmark. It is notable that there are a large number of industrialised cities along those stretches of coastline, including Hull, London, Antwerp, Rotterdam, Bremen and Hamburg. Voorspoels et al. (2004) found that with increased distance to land, there were reduced PCB concentrations, indicating that PCBs are transported to the marine environment from inland, and this was supported by the findings of Klamer et al. (2005). This spatial trend is also seen in other biota, with sea stars near the German coast exhibiting the highest PCB concentrations compared to further offshore in a study by den Besten et al. (2001). This trend both in sediment and biota suggests that estuaries in the southern North Sea are a major source of PCBs in the North Sea, and supports the findings of the present study. Jartun and Pettersen (2010) also had main concerns for contaminant levels in harbours of urban or industrial areas, whilst Lockyer and Kinze (2003) found increased PCB concentrations in harbour porpoises off Denmark in comparison to those off Norway.

For PCBs, unfortunately, the risk maps, do not provide a clear enough picture of which regions demonstrate the highest risk for harbour porpoise in European waters. A maximum sampled value of 21.8 μ g/g (table 9) is still below the LD₅₀ value for PCBs suggesting that sedimentary PCB concentrations are not of a lethal risk to harbour porpoises – before taking into account the likely effect of bioaccumulation. This has to be taken very cautiously as, in the German Bight, there has been a visible decrease in porpoise abundance (Nachtsheim et al., 2021) along with evidence of low fertility rates (Cervin et al., 2020), which may indicate that high levels of PCMs in this region are having `a biological effect. In addition, Williams et al. (2023) found that although PCB levels are dropping within porpoises, "a high proportion of animals were exposed to concentrations deemed to be a toxicological threat". Therefore, the results of this study must be taken cautiously, and with additional data points for harbour porpoise, it will be much easier to assess risk for porpoises from PCBs.

Large amounts of the North Sea are predicted to have contaminant levels in sediment above the chronic poisoning level for Lead predicted by Flora et al. (2012). Additional data sampling points would help confirm this. However, if true, it does suggest that large numbers of European harbour porpoises are at risk from the toxic effects that Lead exposure can bring (Table 1) if ingested. Further studies investigating LD₅₀ values for Lead in harbour porpoise specifically are required. This may result in a

change of results in this study or a hint at a level of degradation in the environment or detoxification in the animal depending on the number of stranded porpoises with the cause of death being as a result of exposure to Lead.

The areas of greatest concern are the Wadden Sea and German Bight (figure 8). Interestingly, sedimentary Lead was also found across the Baltic Sea region, in the Oslo Rift, Gotland Basin, Gdansk Basin, and Mecklenburg Strait (Bjørlykke et al., 1990; Zillén et al., 2012; Zaborska, 2014; Robinson et al., 2017). However, with relatively fewer porpoises along the Norwegian and Swedish coasts (Waggitt et al., 2020), conservation measures are less important here in relation to marine pollutants. Despite this study suggesting that Lead poisoning is a major issue for harbour porpoises, there are very few papers which suggest that Lead is a danger for harbour porpoises. Camphuysen and Siemensma (2015) reported that studies typically find Cadmium and Mercury to be more commonly found in the bodies of deceased porpoises. Furthermore, they went on to describe POPs being of a larger concern compared to other pressures (even non-pollution related pressures).

Regardless of any findings of the present study, measures to prevent any sub-lethal effects should be put in place to protect harbour porpoise (and other marine mammals) in the southern North Sea from the effects of PAHs (table 1). The findings of Acevedo-Whitehouse et al. (2018) support this study's previous conclusion that regions which exhibit PAH concentrations capable of inducing sub-lethal impacts on harbour porpoise need identifying. Acevedo-Whitehouse et al. (2018) found that DNA damage may be caused by exposure to PAH concentrations below the lethal dosage. To truly assess which areas pose a risk to harbour porpoises from PAHs, some risk mapping of sub-lethal levels should occur.

If correct, this study lends support to the idea that harbour porpoise who succumb to the negative effects of PCBs (Table 1) have been exposed to the sub-lethal impacts of these pollutants (such as those demonstrated by Williams et al. (2021)) for an extended period of time rather than being exposed to lethal, short-term, levels of these legacy contaminants. However, it must be noted that large areas of the North Sea coast are known for their high concentrations of PCBs in top predators, for example the otter off Sweden (Roos et al., 2001), and harbour porpoises around the UK coasts (Jepson et al., 2016). Further data are required to determine whether this study is correct in suggesting that porpoises are subject to prolonged periods of sub-lethal PCB exposure or a short period of lethal exposure as the literature deems otherwise.

Environmental Drivers

It is notable that of the environmental variables, AnTPV occurred in the model with the lowest AIC value for every pollutant. As mentioned previously, this variable indicates the presence of estuarine and freshwater input and land-based human activities. Furthermore, the fact that AnSAL was present for all contaminant models except Cadmium, supports the idea that estuaries and their proximity to anthropogenic activities on land, such as industry and urbanised areas, are a major source of contaminant input into the North Sea. Interestingly, Hunter's Stratification Index also occurred in multiple models, with the model for Mercury being the only one where HU₃ was not present. This indicates that the mixture of depth and current speed could be having a large influence on the spatial distribution of pollutants across the North Sea once those have entered the marine environment. The substrate, mud, appeared in the models as significant for Lead, PAHs and PCBs. This is interesting for the persistent organic pollutants since these chemicals are hydrophobic in nature (Cailleaud et al., 2007) and so may be found in greater concentrations in regions where the percentage of mud in the sediment is higher.

Potential Contaminant Hotspots

Cadmium is predicted by this study to be at its highest concentrations in sediments in the northwestern North Sea (figure 3). For Mercury, the south-east coast of England, the Wadden Sea and the German Bight are regions that pose lethal risk to harbour porpoises, according to figure 11 (figures 12-14 also demonstrate that these areas contain a large proportion of porpoises exposed to lethal levels of Mercury). Both can be found in coastal regions but in very different habitats. Mercury has been predicted to be highest near large estuaries along the mainland coast of northern Europe. On the other hand, Cadmium does not seem to be associated with large estuaries and high levels occur principally along the UK coastline.

Cadmium concentrations are above the LD₅₀ values for marine mammals off the north-east of England as well as around the Orkney and Shetland Islands. Vane et al. (2020) also found that areas around the UK are subject to relatively high concentrations of Cadmium in sediments. Furthermore, Berg et al. (2000) and Lahaye et al. (2007) found that there were higher concentrations of Cadmium in harbour porpoise off Scotland and Ireland than in the rest of European waters. When comparing the concentrations along the UK coastline to the coasts of mainland Europe, it should be noted that lower concentrations were also seen off Belgium's coastline and the Wadden Sea in the study by Le et al. (2021). However, as shown in figure 2, this study included few data points which may have influenced this result and so the link between the results of this study and those of Le et al. (2021) should be taken cautiously.

In other parts of the North Sea, this study concluded that Cadmium concentrations were relatively low in the German Bight, but higher north of Denmark and south of Norway and Sweden (figure 3). Figure 4 also shows these areas as being areas above the LD_{50} value for Cadmium. These results are also in contrast to the findings of Gao et al. (2013) who demonstrated that metal concentrations were higher in estuaries across Belgium and Germany than offshore in the North Sea. Since Kubier et al. (2019) also demonstrated higher concentrations in water near the city of Bremen, further analyses are needed to confirm this.

The north-east of England is known for larger numbers of harbour porpoises in relation to adjacent areas (Waggitt et al., 2020) that have Cadmium concentrations above the LD_{50} value and, therefore, this has been highlighted in figures 5 and 6 as a region of particular concern for porpoise populations. Das et al. (2006) demonstrated that Cadmium levels were lower in harbour porpoises in the southern North Sea than those found off Iceland. The present study suggests that Cadmium levels are higher in the deeper waters of the northern North Sea and so it is plausible that increased levels of Cadmium found in Icelandic harbour porpoises (Das et al., 2006) may apply also porpoises in Scotland and northern England.

The results of the present study also match the findings of Das et al. (2004), where porpoises in the southern North Sea, around the mainland European coast, had increased loads of Mercury by comparison to those found off Norway and in the Baltic. This further mirrors what is seen in this study where porpoises off the Norwegian coast are exposed to Mercury concentrations below the LD₅₀ value for marine mammals. Furthermore, in 1991, a female harbour porpoise stranded in the Castricum municipality of the Netherlands was analysed by Kastelein and Lavaleije (1992) who found high concentrations of Mercury in its liver and kidney. Those concentrations reported by Kastelein and Lavaleije (1992) are below the LD₅₀ value for Mercury in table 3, however, and Mercury was not deemed as the cause of mortality for this individual. Despite that, however, this stranding is still important as it highlights high concentrations of Mercury in an individual found stranded in a region indicated by the present study as one of concern.

Cadmium entering the marine environment can be as a result of both natural and anthropogenic processes (Suhani et al., 2021), which include aquaculture and wastewater treatment (Yuan et al., 2019), agricultural uses of phosphate fertilizers (Satarug et al. 2003) which leach into the ground and surface water (Ulrich, 2019), and accumulation in plant species (Satarug et al. 2003). The European Commission is attempting to minimise Cadmium content in fertilisers but so far with limited success (Ulrich, 2019). This could explain why in the present study, Cadmium is not associated with major estuaries near large cities and suggests that a major source of Cadmium input to the marine environment is through the agricultural sector, which is typically away from large cities.

Estuaries are a source of Mercury, especially during periods of flooding (Saniewska et al., 2014) and, with increased climate change, Mercury is more likely to be released from riverine sediments into the marine environment due to more acidic pH concentrations (Kammann et al., 2023). Within the region modelled by this study as having higher predicted Mercury concentrations, there is also a variety of large estuaries which are fed from rivers, such as the Rhine, Weser and Elbe. Panagos et al. (2021) compared the levels of Mercury in soils across Europe and showed that the Elbe estuary is a hotspot with increased levels in soils. Interestingly, the mouth of the Elbe was the region which was predicted by this study to have the highest concentrations of sedimentary Mercury.

Overall, this study suggests that one cannot necessarily assume that high-risk areas occur alongside urbanized estuaries. This will vary between contaminants. In the case of Mercury, the results of this study show a trend consistent with the initial hypothesis that urbanised estuaries are the principal source of this pollutant in the marine environment, whereas the source of Cadmium may be either natural or anthropogenic.

Model performance

Broad patterns have been seen across the North Sea which match the hypothesis that increased pollutant concentrations can be found in coastal regions which are near areas of increased industrial activity or increased population density compared with the centre of the North Sea. However, model performance varied. Although some performed reasonably well, others were poor in their explanatory power. This is for several reasons: 1) This study did not account for temporal variations in contaminants, both seasonally and annually. Future models could include this; 2) Extreme values were omitted because their inclusion resulted in unrealistic relationships and predictions. However, these are actual measurements and so do pose risk. Future models could investigate the means to better predict extremities in pollutant levels; 3) This study used coarse-scale environmental variables. Local-scale processes may be of greater importance. Nevertheless, predictions did make general sense, and highlighted areas and pollutants of concern and so serve as a strong starting point for further conservation measures.

Between 1995 and 2020, Mercury concentrations in sediment in the German Bight have decreased (Kammann et al., 2023). Although Mercury concentrations were only sampled in the sediment at three locations in this study rather than modelled across the region, it does highlight a drawback of this current study, namely that insufficient data were available to make North Sea-wide assessments of temporal variation in pollutant concentrations, the data having to be combined to make any assessments. This study may therefore be missing temporal trends as demonstrated by Mercury concentrations in sediments in the German Bight and, so risk assessments must be interpreted with care. On the other hand, Mercury concentrations were found to have increased in dab, *Limanda limanda* (Kammann et al., 2023).

Figure 18 demonstrates some autocorrelation for PAHs and so this must also be taken into account when assessing the performance of the models. Caution is need in interpretation as models may be overcomplicated. Future studies will need to work on improving this to reduce the effect that data points at close proximity have upon one another.

Conclusions and Future Recommendations

This study set out to determine which regions of European waters, with a focus on the North Sea, pose the greatest risk for harbour porpoise from marine pollutants. The study took a novel approach to assess pollutant levels across greater spatial scales than point sampling can offer, and, for this reason, the study provides the opportunity to better risk assess harbour porpoises across its habitat.

These include the inclusion of additional data, both spatially and temporally, and the inclusion of ocean current directions within the General Linear Models as this might allow a better understanding of how particular pollutants may be found in regions far away from industrial zones (Cappello et al., 2020). Cappello et al. (2020) used a complex form of kriging to determine the temporal profile of surface ocean currents, and a similar approach might be useful going forward. In addition, GIS could be used for calculating distance to multiple estuaries.

A major consideration to be taken into account is that this study only reports predicted concentrations in sediments rather than in the harbour porpoise themselves and so assessments into risk must be interpreted cautiously. This approach is at an early stage and when the approach is refined, and – importantly - additional data points have been collated to make modelling porpoise data feasible over very large areas, i.e., the North Sea, it would be interesting to begin to model additional pollutants to further assess risk for harbour porpoises. Furthermore, the risk maps produced by this study could be applied to other cetacean species and to other marine predators in the North Sea. Now that we have begun to establish a protocol to predict pollutant concentrations, marine top predators in the North Sea and further afield, could be assessed quantitatively for risk of population level impacts from marine pollutants.

The quantitative risk assessment used by this study represents a positive step forward in understanding the risk faced by porpoises depending on exposure to pollutant concentrations. In order to improve it further, the concentrations which induce negative effects but do not result in mortality can be included. This would produce maps which show where, in the North Sea or elsewhere, pollutant concentrations have no impact, where they have negative but sub-lethal effects, and where they result in actual mortality. This would allow for a greater assessment of risk to be performed.

In the meantime, this study has identified coastal regions as being areas of concern due to the proximity to estuaries and industrialised areas. It has predicted that no single coastline around the North Sea is likely to be the sole cause for a harbour porpoise decline. However, the German Bight is identified as a region of particular concern. It is recommended that measures are put in place to reduce the impact that pollutants may be having on harbour porpoises in this region of the North Sea, and to address cumulative effects from other stressors such as fisheries to halt local population declines that are currently being observed in this region.

References

Aaseth, J., Hilt, B. and Bjørklund, G. (2018). Mercury exposure and health impacts in dental personnel. *Environmental Research*, 164: 65-69.

Acevedo-Whitehouse, K., Cole, K.J., Phillips, D.H., Jepson, P.D., Deaville, R. and Arlt, V.M. (2018). Hepatic DNA damage in harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) stranded along the English and Welsh coastlines. *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis*, 59(7): 613-624.

Aguilar, A., Borrell, A., and Reijnders, P.J.H. (2002). Geographical and temporal variation in levels of organochlorine contaminants in marine mammals. *Marine Environmental Research*, 53(5): 425-452.

Ainley, D., Ballard, G., Blight, L.K., Ackley, S., Emslie, S.D., Lescroël, A., Olmastroni, S. et al. (2010). Impacts of cetaceans on the structure of Southern Ocean food webs. *Marine Mammal Science*, 26(2): 482-492.

Assi, M.A., Hezmee, M.N.M., Haron, A.W., Sabri, M.Y.M. and Rajion, M.A. (2016). The detrimental effects of lead on human and animal health. *Veterinary World*, 9(6): 660-671.

Avila, I.C., Kaschner, K. and Dormann, C.F. (2018). Current global risks to marine mammals: Taking stocks of the threats. *Biological Conservation*, 221: 44-58.

Barbraud, C., and C. Cotté. 2008. Paradigms need hypothesis testing: No evidence for top-down forcing on Adelie and emperor penguin populations. *Antarctic Science*, 20:391–392.

Barton, K (2022). MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference_. R package version 1.47.1, https://CRAN.r-project.org/package=MuMIn.

Baum, J.K. and Worm, B. (2009). Cascading top-down effects of changing ocean predator abundances. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 78(4): 699-714.

Beck, S., Foote, A.D., Kötter, S., Harries, O., Mandleberg, L., Stevick, P.T., Whooley, P. et al. (2014). Using opportunistic photo-identifications to detect a population decline of killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) in British and Irish waters. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 94(6): 1327-1333.

Bengtson, J. L., and R. M. Laws. 1985. Trends in crabeater seal age at maturity: An insight into Antarctic marine interactions. Pp. 669–975, In (W. R. Siegfried, P. R. Condy and R. M. Laws, eds.) *Antarctic nutrient cycles and food webs*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany.

Berg, V., Ugland, K.I., Hareide, N.R., Groenningen, D. and Skaare, J.U. (2000). Mercury, cadmium, lead, and selenium in fish from a Norwegian fjord and off the coast, the importance of sampling locality. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, 2: 375-377.

Bivand R, Keitt T, Rowlingson B (2022). rgdal: Bindings for the 'Geospatial' Data Abstraction Library_. R package version 1.5-32, https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=rgdal

Bivand R, Lewin-Koh N (2022). maptools: Tools for Handling Spatial Objects. R package version 1.1-4, https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=maptools>.

Bjørlykke, A., Ihlen, P.M. and Olerud, S. (1990). Metallogeny and lead isotope data from the Oslo Paleorift. *Technophysics*, 178(1): 109-126.

Bloom, H. (1977). Heavy Metals in the Derwent Estuary. Environmental Geology, 2: 3-22.

Bouveroux, T., Waggitt, J., Belhadjer, A., Cazenave, P.W., Evans, P. and Kiszka, J. (2020). Modelling fine-scale distribution and relative abundance of harbour porpoises in the Southern Bight of the North

Sea using platform-of-opportunity data. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom.* 100(3), 481-489.

Breen, P., Brown, S., Reid, D. and Rogan, E. (2017). Where is the risk? Integrating a spatial distribution model and a risk assessment to identify areas of cetacean interaction with fisheries in the northeast Atlantic. *Ocean and Coastal Management*, 136: 148-155.

Bruhn, R., Kannan, N, Petrick, G., Schulz-Bull, D.E. and Duinker, J.C. (1999). Persistent chlorinated organic contaminants in harbour porpoises from the North Sea, the Baltic Sea and Arctic waters. *Science of the Total Environment*, 237-238: 351-361.

Burnham, K.P. and Anderson, D.R. (1998). *Model Selection and Multimodal Inference: A Practical Information-Theoretic Approach*. 2nd ed. New York: Springer.

Caillaud, K., Forget-Lerary, J., Souissi, S., Hilde, D., LeMenach, K. and Budzinski, H. (2007). Seasonal variations of hydrophobic organic contaminant concentrations in the water-column of the Seine Estuary and their transfer to a planktonic species *Eurytemora affinis* (Calandoïda, Copepoda). Part 1: PCBs and PAHs. *Chemosphere*. 70(2): 270-280.

Camphuysen, C.J. and Siemensma, M.L (2015). A Conservation Literature Review for the Harbour Porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*). Joint Nature Conservation Committee. JNCC Report 566, December 2015.

Cappello, C., De Iaco, S., Maggio, S. and Posa, D. (2020). Modelling Ocean Currents Through Complex Random Fields Indexed in Time. *Mathematical Geosciences*, 53: 999-1025.

Carmichael, L.M. and Pfaender, F.K. (1996). Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbon Metabolism in Soils: Relationship to Soil Characteristics and Preexposure. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 16(4): 666-675.

Cervin, L., Harkonen, T. and Harding, K.C. (2020). Multiple stressors and data deficient populations: a comparative life-history approach sheds new light on the extinction risk of the highly vulnerable Baltic harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*). *Environment International*, 144: 106076.

Copernicus Marine Service. Available at: <u>Home | CMEMS (copernicus.eu)</u>

Currie, J.J., Stack, S.H., McCordic, J.A. and Kaufman, G.D. (2017). Quantifying the risk that marine debris poses to cetaceans in coastal waters of the 4-island region of Maui. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 121(1-2): 69-77.

Das, K., Debacker, V., Pillet, S., and Bouquegneau, J.M. (2003). Heavy metals in marine mammals. Pp. 135-167. In: Toxicology of marine mammals, (Vos, J.G., Bossart, G.D., Fournier, M., and O'Shea, T.J., eds). Taylor & Francis, London.

Das, K., De Groof, A., Jauniaux, T. and Bouquegneau, J-M. (2006). Zn, Cu, Cd and Hg binding to the metallothioneins in harbour porpoises *Phocoena phocoena* from the southern North Sea. *BMC Ecology*, 6: 2.

Das, K., Siebert, U., Fontaine, M., Jauniaux, T., Holsbeek, L., and Bouquegneau, J.M. (2004). Ecological and pathological factors related to trace metal concentrations in harbour porpoises *Phocoena phocoena* from the North Sea and adjacent waters. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 281: 283-295.

DeMares, R. (2015). Human Peak Experience Triggered by Encounters with Cetaceans. *Anthrozoös,* 13(2): 89-103.

den Besten, P.J., Valk, S., van Weerlee, E., Nolting, R.F., Postma, J.F., Everaarts, J.M. (2001). Bioaccumulation and biomarkers in the sea star *Asterias rubens* (Echinodermata: Asteroidea): a North Sea field study. *Marine Environmental Research*, 51(4): 365-387.

Desforges, J-P., Hall, A., McConnell, B., Rosing-Asvid, A., Barber, J.L., Brownlow, A, de Guise, S. et al. (2018). Predicting global killer whale population collapse from PCB pollution. *Science*. 361(6409): 1373-1376.

Desforges, J-P. W., Sonne, C., Levin, M., Siebert, U., de Guise, S. and Dietz, R. (2016). Immunotoxic effects of environmental pollutants in marine mammals. *Environmental International*, 86: 126-139.

Emodnet. Bathymetry: Understanding the topography of the European seas. Available at: <u>EMODnet</u> <u>Bathymetry (emodnet-bathymetry.eu)</u>

EU Marine Strategy Framework 2008. Available at EUR-Lex - 32008L0056 - EN - EUR-Lex (europa.eu).

European Union. (2019). Regulation (EU) 2019/1021 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 June 2019 on persistent organic pollutants. *Official Journal of the European Union*. <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:32019R1021&from=EN#d1e40-45-1</u>.

Evans, P.G.H. (editor) (2014). *Chemical Pollution and Marine Mammals*. Proceedings of the ECS/ASCOBANS/ACCOBAMS Joint Workshop, held at the European Cetacean Society's 25th Annual Conference, Cadiz, Spain, 20th March 2011. ECS Special Publication Series No. 55. 93pp.

Evans, P.G.H. (2018). Marine Protected Areas and marine spatial planning for the benefit of marine mammals. *Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 98(5): 973-976.

Evans, P.G.H. (2020). *European Whales, Dolphins and Porpoises. Marine Mammal Conservation in Practice*. Academic Press, London & New York. 306pp.

Evans, P.G.H. and Anderwald, P. (2016). Addressing human pressures upon marine mammals: a European and global perspective. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 96(4): 779-781.

Evanset, A., Hallanger, I.G., Tessmann, M., Warner, N., Ruus, A., Borgå, K., Gabrielsen, G.W. et al. (2016). Season variation in accumulation of persistent organic pollutants in an Arctic marine benthic food web. *Science of the Total Environment*, 542(A): 108-120.

Fair, P.A., Peden-Adams, M.M., Mollenhauer, M.A.M., Bossart, G.D., Keil, D.E. and White, N.D. (2020). Effects of an environmentally relevant PCB-mixture on immune function, clinical chemistry, and thyroid hormone levels in adult female $B_6C_3F_1$ mice. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A*.

Fiedler, H., Kallenborn, R., de Boer, J. And Sydnes, L.K. (2019). The Stockholm Convention: A Tool for the Global Regulation of Persistent Organic Pollutants. *Chemistry International*, 41(2): 4-11.

Filatova, O.A., Shpak, O.V., Ivkovich, T.V., Volkova, E.V., Fedution, I.D., Ovsyanikova, E.N., Burdin, A.M. et al. (2019). Large-scale habitat segregation of fish-eating and mammal-eating killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) in the western North Pacific). *Polar Biology*, 42: 931-941.

Flora, G., Gupta, D. and Tiwari, A. (2012). Toxicity of lead: A review with recent updates. *Interdisciplinary Toxicology*. 5(2): 47-58.

Fossi, C.M. and Panti, C. (eds.). 2018. *Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology*. Academic Press, London. 514pp.

Friedlaender, A. S., Fraser, W.R., Patterson, D., Qian, S.S. and Halpin, P.N. 2008a. The effects of prey demography on humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) abundance around Anvers Island, Antarctica. *Polar Biology*, 31:1217–1224.

Gao, Y., de Brauwere, A., Elskens, M., Croes, K., Baeyens, W. and Leermakers, M. (2013). Evolution of trace metal and organic pollutant concentrations in the Scheldt River Basin and the Belgian Coastal Zone over the last three decades. *Journal of Marine Systems*, 128: 52-61.

García-Tarrasón, M., Pacho, S., Jover, L. and Sanpera, C. (2013). Anthropogenic input of heavy metals in two Audouin's gull breeding colonies. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 74(1): 285-290.

Gilles, A., Viquerat, S. Becker, E.A., Forney, K.A., Geelhoed, S.C.V., Haelters, J., Nabe-Nielsen, J. et al. (2016). Seasonal habitat-based density models for a marine top predator, the harbor porpoise, in a dynamic environment. *Ecosphere*, 7(6): e01367.

Gómez de Segura, A., Hammond, P.S. and Raga, J.A. (2008). Influence of environmental factors on small cetacean distribution in the Spanish Mediterranean. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 88(6): 1185-1192.

Gregorietti, M., Atzori, F., Carosso, L., Frau, F., Pellegrino, G., Sara, G. and Arcangeli, A. (2021). Cetacean presence and distribution in the central Mediterranean Sea and potential risks deriving from plastic pollution. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 173(B): 112943.

Gu, Y., Li, H. and Lu, H. (2017). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in surface sediments from the largest deep plateau lake in China: Occurrence, sources and biological risk. *Ecological Engineering*, 101: 179-184

Guo, L., Zhang, X., Luo, D., Yu, R-Q., Xie, Q. and Wu, Y. (2021). Population-level effects of polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) exposure on highly vulnerable Indo-Pacific humpback dolphins from their largest habitat. *Environmental Pollution*. 286: 117544.

Hadley Wickham (2011). The Split-Apply-Combine Strategy for Data Analysis. Journal of Statistical Software, 40(1), 1-29. URL https://www.jstatsoft.org/v40/i01/.

Hall, A.J. 2001. Organohalogenated contaminants in marine mammals. In: *Marine Mammals: Biology and Conservation.* (Evans, P.G.H. and Raga, J.A., eds). Kluwer Academic/Plenum Press, London. 630pp. Pp. 523-564.

Hall, A.J., Hugunin, K., Deaville, R., Law, R.J., Allchin, C.R., Jepson, P.D. (2006). The risk of infection from polychlorinated biphenyl exposure in the harbour porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*): a case-control approach. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 114: 704-722.

Halpern, B.S., Frazier, M., Potapenko, J., Casey, K.S., Koenig, K., Longo, C., Lowndes, J.S. et al. (2015). Spatial and temporal changes in cumulative human impacts on the world's ocean. *Nature Communications*, 6: 7615.

Halpern, B.S., Walbridge, S., Selkoe, K.A., Kappel, C.V., Micheli, F., D'Agrosa, C., Bruno, J.F. et al. (2008). A Global Map of Human Impact on Marine Ecosystems. *Science*, 319(5865): 948-952.

Hammond, P.S., Berggren, P., Benke, H., Borchers, D.L., Collet, A., Heide-Jørgensen, M.P., Heimlich, S. et al. (2002). Abundance of harbour porpoise and other cetaceans in the North Sea and adjacent waters. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. 39(2): 361-379.

Hammond, P.S., Macleod, K., Berggren, P., Borchers, D.L., Burt, L., Cañadas, A., Desportes, G. et al. (2013). Cetacean abundance and distribution in European Atlantic shelf waters to inform conservation and management. *Biological Conservation*, 164: 107-122.

Hansen J.W. & Høgslund S. (editors) (2021) Marine områder 2020. NOVANA. Aarhus Universitet, DCE – Nationalt Center for Miljø og Energi - Videnskabelig rapport fra DCE.

Hiemstra, P.H., Pebesma, E.J., Twenhofel, C.J.W. and G.B.M. Heuvelink, 2008. Real-time automatic interpolation of ambient gamma dose rates from the Dutch Radioactivity Monitoring Network. Computers & Geosciences, accepted for publication.

Higham, J. et al. (2014). *Whale-Watching. Sustainable Tourism and Ecological Management*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Hijmans R (2022). Raster: Geographic Data Analysis and Modeling. R package version 3.5-15, https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=raster.

Hinrichs, J., Dellwig, O. and Brumsack, H.-J. (2002). Lead in sediments and suspended particulate matter of the German Bight: natural versus anthropogenic origin. *Applied Geochemistry*, 17(5): 621-632.

Howarth, M.J. (2001). North Sea Circulation. Pp. 341-349. In Thorpe, S.A. (2001). *Ocean Currents*. Academic Press, London.

Hoyt, E. and Parsons, E.C.M. (2014). Historical development. In Higham et al. *Whale-Watching. Sustainable Tourism and Ecological Management*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

IJsseldijk, L.L., Camphuysen, K.C.J., Keijl, G.O., Troost, G. and Aarts, G. (2021). Predicting Harbor Porpoise Strandings Based on Near-Shore Sightings Indicates elevated Temporal Mortality Rates. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8: 668038.

IJsseldijk, L.L., ten Doeschate, M.T.I., Brownlow, A., Davison, N.J., Deaville, R., Galatius, A., Gilles, A. et al. (2020). Spatiotemporal mortality and demographic trends in a small cetacean: Strandings to inform conservation management. *Biological Conservation*, 249: 108733.

IUCN – SSC Cetacean Specialist Group. Status of the world's cetaceans accessed at: https://iucn-csg.org/status-of-the-worlds-cetaceans/.

Jansen, H.T., Cooke, P.S., Porcelli, J., Liu, T. and Hansen, L.G. (1993). Estrogenic and antiestrogenic actions of PCBs in the female rate: In vitro and in vivo studies. *Reproductive Toxicology*, 7(3): 237-248.

Jartun, M. and Pettersen, A. (2010). Contaminants in urban runoff to Norwegian fjords. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, 10: 155-161.

Järup, L., Hellström, L., Alfvén, T., Carlsson, M.D., Grubb, A., Persson, B., Pettersson, C. et al. (2000). Low level exposure to cadmium and early kidney damage: the OSCAR study. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 57: 668-672.

Jepson, P.D., Bennett, P.M., Deaville, R., Allchin, C.R., Baker, J.R., and Law, R.J. (2005). Relationships between PCBs and health status in harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) stranded in the United Kingdom. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 24: 238-248.

Jepson, P.D., Bennett, P.M., Allchin, C.R., Law, R.J., Kuiken, T., Baker, J.R., Rogan, E., and Kirkwood, J.K. (1999). Investigating potential associations between chronic exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and infectious disease mortality in harbour porpoises from England and Wales. *Science of the Total Environment*. 243/244: 339-348.

Jepson, P.D., Bennett, P.M., Deaville, R., Allchin, C.R., Baker, J.R. and Law, R.J. (2009). Relationships between polychlorinated biphenyls and health status in harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) stranded in the United Kingdom. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 24(1)

Jepson, P.D., Deaville, R., Barber, J.L., Aguilar, A., Borrell, A., Murphy, S., Barry, J. et al. (2016). PCB pollution continues to impact populations of orcas and other dolphins in European waters. *Scientific Reports*. 6: 18573.

Jepson, P.D. and Law, R.J. (2016). Persistent pollutants, persistent threats. Science, 352: 1388-1389.

Jourdain, E., Ugarte, F., Víkingsson, G.A., Samarra, F.I.P., Ferguson, S.H., Lawson, J., Vongraven, D. et al. (2019). North Atlantic killer whale *Orcinus orca* populations: a review of current knowledge and threats to conservation. *Mammal Review*. 49(4): 384-400.

Kammann, U., Nogueira, P., Siegmund, M., Schmidt, N., Schmolke, S., Kirchgeogr, T., Hasenbein, M. et al. (2023). Temporal trends of mercury levels in fish (dab, *Limanda limanda*) and sediment from the German Bight (North Sea) in the period 1995-2020. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 195 (73).

Kastelein, R.A. and Lavaleije, M.S.S. (1992). Foreign bodies in the stomach of a female Harbour porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*) from the North Sea. *Aquatic Mammals*. 18(2): 40-46.

Klamer, H.J.C., Leonards, P.E.G., Lamoree, M.H., Villerious, L.A., Åkerman, J.E. and Bakker, J.F. (2005). A chemical and toxicological profile of Dutch North Sea surface sediments. *Chemosphere*, 58(11): 1579-1587.

Kubier, A. and Pichler, T. (2019). Cadmium in groundwater – A synopsis based on a large hydrogeochemical data set. *Science of the Total Environment*, 689: 831-842.

Lahaye, V., Bustamante, P., Law, R.J., Learmonth, J.A., Santos, M.B., Boon, J.P., Rogan, E. et al. (2007). Biological and ecological factors related to trace element levels in harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) from *European waters Marine Environmental Research*, 64: 247-266.

Law, R.J. (1996). Metals in marine mammals. In: Environmental Contaminants in Wildlife: Interpreting Tissue Concentrations (Beyer, W.N., Heinz, G.H. and Redmond-Norwood, A.W., eds). CRC Press, USA. Pp. 357-375.

Law, R.J., Bersuder, P., Barry, J., Deaville, R., Reid, R.J., and Jepson, P.D. (2010). Chlorobiphenyls in the blubber of harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) from the UK: levels and trends 1991-2005. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 60: 470-473.

Law, R.J., Barry, J., Barber, J.L., Bersuder, P., Deaville, R., Reid, R.J., Brownlow, A., Penrose, R., Barnett, J., Loveridge, J., Smith, B., and Jepson, P.D. (2012). Contaminants in cetaceans from UK waters: status as assessed within the Cetacean Strandings Investigation Programme from 1990 to 2008. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 64: 1485-1494.

Law, R.J., Bersuder, P., Barry, J., Deaville, R., Reid, R.J., and Jepson, P.D. (2010). Chlorobiphenyls in the blubber of harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) from the UK: levels and trends 1991-2005. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 60, 470-473.

Law, R.J. and Whinnett, J.A. (1992). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in muscle tissue of harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) from UK waters. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 24(11): 550-553.

"LD50." *Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary*, Merriam-Webster, <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/LD50</u>.

Le, H.M., Bekaert, K., Lagring, R., Ampe, B., Ruttens, A., de Cauwer, K., Hostens, K. et al. (2021). 4DEMON: Integrating 40 Years of Data on PCB and Metal Contamination in Marine Sediments of the Belgian Part of the North Sea. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8: 681901.

Lockyer, C., & Kinze, C.C. (2003). Status, ecology and life history of harbour porpoise (<i>Phocoena phocoena</i>), in Danish waters. *NAMMCO Scientific Publications*, 5: 143–175.

McCrink-Goode, M. (2014). Pollution: A global threat. *Environmental International*, 68: 162-170.

Munksgaard, N.C., Taylor, M.P. and Mackay, A. (2010). Recognising and responding to the obvious: the source of lead pollution at Mount Isa and the likely health impacts. *The Medical Journal of Australia*. 193(3): 131-132.

Murphy, S., Barber, J.L., Learmonth, J.A., Read, F.L., Deaville, R., Perkins, M.W., Brownlow, Aet al. (2015). Reproductive Failure in UK Harbour Porpoises *Phocoena phocoena*: Legacy of Pollutant Exposure? *PLoS ONE*. 10(7): e0131085.

Nachtsheim, D.A., Viquerat, S., Ramírez-Martínez, N.C., Unger, B., Siebert, U., Gilles, A. (2021). Small Cetacean in a Human High-Use Area: Trends in Harbor Porpoise Abundance in the North Sea Over Two Decades. *Frontiers in Marine Science*. 7: 606609.

Naser, H.A. (2013). Assessment and management of heavy metal pollution in the marine environment of the Arabian Gulf: A review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. 72(1): 6-13.

O'Connor, S., Campbell, R., Knowles, T., and Cortez, H. (2009) *Whale Watching Worldwide: Tourism numbers, expenditures and expanding economic benefits.* IFAW, Yarmouth, USA.

O'Shea, T. (1999). Environmental Contaminants and Marine Mammals. Pp. 485-563. In: *Biology of Marine Mammals*, (Reynolds, J.E.I. and Rommel, S.A., eds). Smithsonian Institution Press. Washington & London.

OSPAR. (2010). *Quality Status Report 20*10. OSPAR Commission, London.

Pan, J., Plant, J.A., Voulvoulis, N., Oates, C.J. and Ihlenfeld. (2010). Cadmium levels in Europe: implications for human health. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health.* 32: 1-12.

Panagos, P., Jiskra, M., Borrelli, P., Liakos, L. and Ballabio, C. (2021). Mercury in Europe topsoils: Anthropogenic sources, stocks and fluxes. *Environmental Research*, 201: 111556.

Parajuli, A., Grönroos, M., Kauppi, S., Plociniczak, T., Roslund, M., Galitskaya, P., Latinen, O.H. et al. (2017). The abundance of health-associated bacteria is altered in PAH polluted soils-Implications for health in urban areas? *PLOS ONE*, 12(11): e0187852.

Pebesma, E.J., 2004. Multivariable geostatistics in S: the gstat package. *Computers & Geosciences*, 30: 683-691.

Pebesma, E.J., R.S. Bivand, 2005. Classes and methods for spatial data in R. R News 5 (2), <u>https://cran.r-project.org/doc/Rnews/</u>.

PELAGIS Observatory – UMS 3462 (Université de La Rochelle – CNRS)

Peltier, H., Baagøe, H.J., Camphuysen, K.C.J., Czeck, R., Dabin, W., Daniel, P., Deaville, R. et al. (2013). The Stranding Anomaly as Population Indicator: The Case of Harbour Porpoise *Phocoena phocoena* in North-Western Europe. *PLOS ONE*, 8(4): e62180.

Peschko, V., Ronnenberg, K., Siebert, U. And Gilles, A. (2016). Trends of harbour porpoise (*Phocoena*) *phocoena*) density in the southern North Sea. *Ecological Indicators*, 60: 174-183.

Pierce, G.J., Santos, M.B., Murphy, S., Learmonth, J.A., Zuur, A.F., Rogan, E., Bustamante, P., et al. (2008). Bioaccumulation of persistent organic pollutants in female common dolphins (*Delphinus delphis*) and harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) from western European seas: geographical trends, causal factors and effects on reproduction and mortality. *Environmental Pollution*. 153: 401-415.

Radakovitch, O., Roussiez, V., Ollivier, P., Ludwig, W., Grenz, C. and Probst, J. (2008). Input of particulate heavy metals from rivers and associated sedimentary deposits on the Gulf of Lion continental shelf. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 77(2): 285-295.

Ramesh, R., Chen, Z., Cummins, V., Day, J., D'Eila, C., Dennison, B., Forbes, D.L. et al. (2015). Land-Ocean Interactions in the Coastal Zones: Past, present & future. *Anthropocene*, 12: 85-98.

Reid, J.B., Evans P.G.H. and Northridge, S.P. (2003). *Atlas of Cetacean distribution in north-west European waters*. Joint Nature Conservation Committee, Peterborough.

Reijnders, P.J.H., Aguilar, A., and Donovan, G.P. (eds.). (1999). Chemical Pollutants and Cetaceans. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management* (Special Issue 1), 1-273.

Ribeiro Jr. P.J., Diggle, P., Christensen, O., Schlather, M., Bivand, R. and Ripley, B. (2022). _geoR: Analysis of Geostatistical Data_. R package version 1.9-2, https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=geoR>.

Robinson, C.D., Webster, L., Martínez-Gómez, C, Burgeot, T., Gubbins, M.J., Thain, J.E., Vethaak, A.D. et al. (2017). Assessment of contaminant concentrations in sediments fish and mussels sampled from the North Atlantic and European regional seas within the ICON project. *Marine Environmental Research*, 124: 21-31.

Roman, J., Estes, J.A., Morissette, L., Smith, C., Costa, D., McCarthy, J., Nation, J.B. et al. (2014). Whales as marine ecosystem engineers. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 12(7): 377-385.

Roman, J. and McCarthy, J.J. (2010). The Whale Pump: Marine Mammals Enhance Primary Productivity in a Coastal Basin. *PLOS ONE*, 5(10): e13255.

Roos, A., Greyerz, E., Olsson, M. and Sandegren, F. (2001). The otter (*Lutra lutra*) in Sweden – population trends in relation to Σ DDT and total PCB concentrations during 1968-99. *Environmental Pollution*, 111(3): 457-469.

Rose, N.L., Yang, H., Turner, S.D. and Simpson, G.L. (2012). An assessment of the mechanisms for the transfer of lead and mercury from atmospherically contaminated organic soils to lake sediments with particular reference to Scotland, UK. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 82, 113-135.

Saniewska, D., Bełdowska, M., Bełdowksa, J., Jędruch, A., Saniewska, M. and Folkowska, L. (2014). Mercury loads into the sea associated with extreme flood. *Environmental Pollution*, 191: 93-100.

Santos, M.B. and Pierce, G.J. (2003). The diet of harbour porpoise (*Phoceona phocoena*) in the northeast Atlantic: a review. In Gibson, R.N. and Atkinson R.J.A. (2003). Oceanography and Marine Biology, An Annual Review, Volume 41. CRC Press, London.

Satarug, S., Baker, J.R., Urbenjapol, S., Haswell-Elkins, M., Reilly, R.E.B., Williams, D.J. and Moore, M.R. (2003). A global perspective on cadmium pollution and toxicity in non-occupationally exposed population. *Toxicology Letters*, 137(1-2): 65-83.

Scherer, U., Fuchs, S., Behrdent, H., and Hillenbrand, T. (2003). Emissions of heavy metals into river basins of Germany. *Water Science Tecnhology*, 47(7-8): 251-257.

Scheuhammer, A., Braune, B., Chan, H.M., Frouin, H., Krey, A., Letcher, R., Lesoto, L. et al. (2015). Recent progress on our understanding of the biological effects of mercury in fish and wildlife in the Canadian Arctic. *Science of the Total Environment*, 509-510: 91-103.

Schnitzler, J.G., Reckendorf, A., Pinzone, M., Autenrieth, M., Tiedemann, R., Covaci, A. Malrvannan, G. et al. (2019). Supporting evidence for PCB pollution threatening global killer whale population. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 206: 102-104.

Shore, R.F, Pereira, M.G., Walker, L.A. and Thompson. (2011). Mercury in Nonmarine Birds and Mammals. In: *Environmental Contaminants in Biota*. CRC Press, Florida.

Siebert, U., Gilles, A., Lucke, K., Ludwig, M., Benke, H., Kock, K-H. and Scheidat., M. (2006). A decade of harbour porpoise occurrence in German waters – Analyses of aerial surveys, incidental sightings and strandings. *Journal of Sea Research*, 56(1): 65-80.

Simpson, J.H. and Hunter, J.R. (1974). Fronts in the Irish Sea. *Nature*, 250: 404-406.

Simpson, J.H. and Sharples, J. (2012). *Introduction to the Physical and Biological Oceanography of Shelf Seas*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants. Overview accessed from http://chm.pops.int/TheConvention/Overview/tabid/3351/Default.aspx.

Suhani, I., Sahab, S., Srivastava, V. and Singh, R.P. (2021). Impact of cadmium pollution on food safety and human health. *Current Opinion in Toxicology*, 21: 1-7.

Sun, G., Zhang, Y., Pei, L., Lou, Y., Mu, Y., Yun, M., Li, F. et al. (2021). Chemometric QSAR modelling of acute oral toxicity of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) to rat using simple 2D descriptors and interspecies toxicity modelling with mouse. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 222: 112525.

Tanabe, S., Iwata, H., and Tatsukawa, R. (1994). Global contaminants by persistent organochlorines and their ecological impacts on marine mammals. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 154: 163-177.

Ulrich, A.E. (2019). Cadmium governance in Europe's phosphate fertilizers: Not so fast? *Science of The Total Environment*, 650(1): 541-545.

van Mil, Y. and Rutte, R. (2021). Urbanisation Patterns around the North Sea: Long-Term Population Dynamics, 1300-2015. *Urban Planning*, 6(3).

Vane, C.H., Turner, G.H., Chenery, S.R., Richardson, M., Cave, M.C., Terrington, R., Gowing, C.J.B. et al. (2020). Trends in heavy metals, polychlorinated biphenyls and toxicity from sediment cores of the inner River Thames estuary, London UK. *Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts*, 22: 364-380.

Voldner, E.C. and Li, Y. (1995). Global usage of selected persistent organochlorines. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 160/161: 201-210.

Voorspoels, S., Covaci, A., Maervoet, J., De Meester, I. and Schepens, P. (2004). Levels and profiles of PCBs and OCPs in marine benthic species from the Belgian North Sea and the Western Scheldt Estuary. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 49(5-6): 393-404.

Waggitt, J., Evans, P., Hiddink, J.G., Andrade, J., Banks, A., Boisseau, O., Bolton, M. et al. (2020). Distribution maps of cetacean and seabird populations in the North-East Atlantic. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. 57(2), 253-269.

Wilson, R.J., Speirs, D.C., Sabatino, A. and Heath, M.R. (2018). A synthetic map of the north-west European Shelf sedimentary environment for applications in marine science. *Earth System Science Data*, 10: 109-130.

Williams, T. M., Estes, J. A., Doak, D. G. and Springer, A. M. (2004). Killer appetites: Assessing the role of predators in ecological communities. *Ecology*, 85: 3373–3384.

Williams, R.S., Brownlow, A., Baillie, A., Barber, J.L., Barnett, J., Davison, N.J., Deaville, R. et al. (2023). Evaluation of a marine mammal status and trends contaminants indicator for European waters. *Science of the Total Environment*. 866 (161301).

Williams, R.S., Curnick, D.J., Barber, J.L., Brownlow, A., Davison, N.J., Deaville, R., Perkins, M., Jobling, S., and Jepson, P.D. (2020a). Juvenile harbor porpoises in the UK are exposed to a more neurotoxic mixture of polychlorinated biphenyls than adults. *Science of the Total Environment*, 708: 134835.

Williams, R.S., ten Doeschate, M., Curnick, D.J., Brownlow, A., Barber, J.L., Davison, N.J., Deaville, R. et al. (2020b). Levels of polychlorinated biphenyls are still associated with toxic effects in harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) despite having fallen below proposed toxicity thresholds. *Environmental Science & Technology*. 54(4): 2277-2286.

Williams, R.S., ten Doeschate, M., Curnick, D.J., Barber, J.L., Davison, N.J., Deaville, R., Per-kins, M. et al. (2019). Levels of Polychlorinated Biphenyls Are Still Associated with Toxic Effects in Harbour

Porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*) Despite Having Fallen below Proposed Toxicity Thresholds. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 54(4): 2277-2286.

Williams, R.S., Curnick, D.J., Brownlow, A., Barber, J.L., Barnett, J., Davison, N.J., Deaville, R et al. (2021). Polychlorinated biphenyls are associated with reduced testes weights in harbour porpoises *Phocoena phocoena. Environment International*, 150: 10603.

Winther, N.G. and Johannessen, J.A. (2006). North Sea circulation: Atlantic inflow and its destination. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans*, 111: C12.

Wood, S.N. (2011) Fast stable restricted maximum likelihood and marginal likelihood estimation of semiparametric generalized linear models. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society* (B), 73(1): 3-36

Wright, A.J., Maar, M., Mohn, C., Nabe-Nielsen, J., Siebert, U., Jensen, L.F., Baagøe, H.J. et al. (2013). Possible Causes of a Harbour Porpoise Mass Stranding in Danish Waters in 2005. *PLOS ONE*. 8(2): e55553.

Wright, P. and Mason, C.F. (1999). Spatial and seasonal variation in heavy metals in the sediments and biota of two adjacent estuaries, the Orwell and the Stour, in eastern England. *Science of the Total Environment*, 226(2-3): 139-156.

Xie, Q., Yu, R-Q., Yu, R., Wang, Z., Zhang, X. and Wu, Y. (2021). Historic changes of polychlorinated biphenyls in juvenile and adult cetaceans from the Pearl River estuary from 2003 to 2020. *Science of The Total Environment*. 800: 149512.

Yerbury, R. and Boyd, W.E. (2018) Human–Dolphin Interactions: Relationships, Connections, and the Reinforcement of an Ongoing Nature Relationship, *Anthrozoös*. 31(4): 443-458.

Yerbury, R. and Weiler, B. (2020) From Human Wellbeing to an Ecocentric Perspective: How Nature-Connectedness Can Extend the Benefits of Marine Wildlife Experiences, *Anthrozoös*, 33(4): 461-479.

Yuan, Z., Luo, T., Liu, X., Hua, H., Zhuang, Y., Zhang, X., Zhang, L. et al. (2019). Tracing anthropogenic cadmium emissions: From sources to pollution. *Science of the Total Environment*, 676: 87-96.

Zabka, T.S., Haulena, M., Puschner, B., Gulland, F.M.D., Conrad, P.A. and Lowenstine, L.J. (2006). Acute Lead Toxicosis in a Harbor Seal (*Phoca vituline richardsi*) Consequent to Ingestion of a Lead Fish Sinker. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*. 42(3): 651-657.

Zaborska, A. (2014). Anthropogenic lead concentrations and sources in Baltic Sea sediments based on lead isotopic composition. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 85(1): 99-113.

Zhu, Q., Li, X. and Ge, R. (2020). Toxicological Effects of Cadmium on Mammalian Testis. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 11(527).

Zillén, L., Lenz, C. and Julbert, T. (2012). Stable lead (Pb) isotopes and concentrations – A useful independent dating tool for Baltic Sea sediments. *Quaternary Geochronology*, 8: 41-45.